
IN THE UNIrTI~;I) S'TA'TES DISTRICT COU& 
FOR 'I'l-IE NORTHERN DISTRICT 01' ILLINOIS 

ICAS'TERN DlVlSlON 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

Plamiiff, 

v. 

9094.51 14 QUEBEC, INC., 
a Quebec corporatlon, 

ACMS, Inc., 
a Nevada corporatlon, 

dlbla KINlTO, KINITO, INC., KINITO 
BENEFITS SERVICES, KBS, and FIRST 
APPROVAL BENEFITS, 

1 
1 

) Civil Action No. 03C 7486 
) 
) Judge 1~1x1-y D. Lcincnwcber 
1 
) Magistrate Sidney 1. Schcnkic~ 

I 
NIKOLAOS ROTHOS, individually and as an 

offieel- of the corporate defendant, ) 
1 

STEVE VRONTAKIS, individually and as an 1 
officer of the corporate defendant, and ) 

1 
ROBERTO MENDEZ, individually, 1 

Defendants. ) 

1 

AMENDED COMPLAINT 1'011 PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER 
EQUITABLE RELIEF 

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC" or "the Commission"), Tor its Complaint 

alleges as follows: 

The FTC brings this action under Sections 13(b) and I9 or ihe Federal Tradc Commission 

Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. $ 3  53(b) and 57b, and the Telemarketing and Consumc~- Fraud and 



Abuse Prevention Act ("Telcmai-kcling Act"), 15 U.S.C. $Q: 6101, et seq., to s c c ~ ~ r c  tcmporary, 

preliminal-y and permanent inj~~nctive relief, I-cstitution, rescission or 1-cl'ormation of contracts, 

disgorgement, and other cquitablc relief for defendants' deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

Section 5(a) oT thc FI'C Act, 15 U.S.C. $ 45(a), and the FTC's Trade Regulation Rule cntitlcd 

"Telemarketing Sales Rule," 16 C.F.R. Part 310. 

.IURISDIC'TION AND VENUE 

1. 'This Court has subject matterjul-isdiction pursuant to 15 U.S.C. $3 45(a), 53(b), 

57b, 6102(e), and 6105(b), and 28 U.S.C. $3  1331, 1337(a), and 1345. 

2. Venue in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois is 

proper under 15 U.S.C. $ 53(b) and 6103(e) and 28 U.S.C. Q: 139l(b), (c), and (d). 

PLAIN'TIFF 

3 .  Plaintiff, the FTC, is an independent agency oT thc United States Govclnmcnt 

created by statute. 1.5 U.S.C. $5 41-58, as amended. Thc Commission is charged, inter cdia, 

with enforcement of Section 5(a) of thc FI'C Act, 15 U.S.C. $ 45(a), which prohibits unfail- or 

deceptive acts or practices in 01- affecting commerce. The Commission also enfol-ces the 

Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 310, which prohibits deceptive or abusivc 

telemarketing acts or practices. The Commission is authorizcd to initiate federal district court 

proceedings, by its own attol-neys, Lo enjoin violalions of the FTC Act and thc Telernarkcting 

Sales Rule, and to secure such equitable relicr as may be appropriate in each case, including 

I-estitution for injured consumers. 15 U.S.C. $9 53(b), 57b, 6102(e), and 6105(b). 

DEFEND- 

4. Defendant 9094-51 14 Quebec, Inc., is a Quebec corporation with its offices and 



principal place of business located at 7 103 rte Trmscanadienne Bureau 206, St. Laurcnt, Quebec, 

Canada H4T lA2. Defendant 9094-51 14 Quebec, Inc., transacts or has transacted b~~sincss  in 

the Northcrn District of Illinois and throughout the United Statcs. 

5 .  Dcfendant ACMS, Inc., is a Nevada co~poration, wholly owned by Dcfendant 

9094.5114 Quebec, Inc., with its offices, rcgistcl-ed agent, and principal place of business located 

at 1005 Terminal Way, Suite 110, Reno, Nevada 89502. Dcfendant ACMS, Inc., tlxnsacts or has 

transacted business in the Nolthern District of lllinois and throughout the Unitcd Statcs. 

6. Defendant Nikolaos Rothos is an officer or director of the corporate defendants. 

At all times relcvant to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with olhcrs, he has Sormulatcd, 

directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and practices of the colporate dcfendants, 

including the acts and pr-actices set for-th in this Complaint. Nikolaos Rothos transacts or has 

transacted business in the Northern District of Illinois and throughout the Unitcd States. 

7. Defendant Steve Vrontakis is an officer or director of thc corporate dcl'endants. 

At all times relcvant to this Complaint, acting alone or in concerl with othcrs, he has formulated, 

directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and practices of thc corporatc dcfendant, including 

the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. Steve Vrontakis transacts or has transacted 

business in the Northern District of Illinois and throughout the United Statcs. 

8. At all times I-elevant to this Complaint, defendant Roberto Mendcz, acting alone 

or in concert with others, has formulated, directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and 

practices of the corporate defendant, including the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. 

Roberto Mendcz transacts or has transacted business in thc Northern District of lllinois and 

throughout the United Statcs. 



9. The defendants havc done business as Kinito, Kinito, Inc., Kinito Benefits 

Services, KBS, and First Approval Benefits. 

COMMERCE 

10. At all timcs relevant to this Complaint, defendants havc maintained a substantial 

coursc of trade in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is defined in Section 4 of thc FTC Act, 

15 U.S.C. $44.  

DEFENDANTS' COURSE OF CONDUCT 

11. Sincc at least 2000, and continuing thereafter, defendants havc madc unsolicited 

outbound telephone calls to consumers throughout the United States and falsely oCCc1-cd to 

provide prc-appl-oved credit ca-ds to those consumers who agreed to permit defendants to debit 

their bank accounts for advance fees, including fecs of $197 and $299. Defcndants' 

telemarketers tell consumers that the defendan& are offering pre-approvcd Mastercard or Visa 

cl-edit cards. Defendants' tclemarkete~-s somctimes tell consumers that the olTe~-ed crcdit cards 

have low interest rates, high credit limits, such as $5,000, and low or no annual fees. Dcfenilants 

have targeted consumers with no credit histol-ies or poor wedit records. 

12. During the telephone calls to consumers, defcndanls request bank account 

information, including bank routing information. 

13. Defendants routinely dchit the bank accounts or consumers, who have PI-ovidcd 

bank account information and agreed to pay Cees with bank account debits, i n  advance of 

providing those consumel-s with the MastcrCard or Visa credit cards promised dul-ing the 

telephonc calls. 



14. lnstead of providing consumc~-s with MasterCard or Visa cl-cdit cards, dcScndan~s 

sometimes p~.ovidc consurncrs with packets or makrials containing a wclcornc lcttcl-, a list of 

banks, with telephone numbcrs that consumers may call to apply Sorcrcdit cards, a solicitation 

for Intcrnet servicc, and a solicitation for satcllitc television scrvicc. 

15. lnstead of providing consumers with MastcrCard or Visa c~edi t  cards, defendants 

somctirnes provide consumers with a card that may be uscd only for purchases fi-om a slore 

catalogue up to the amount that the consumer deposits. 

16. Defendants do not provide consumers with, or an-angc for consumcl-s lo receive, 

credit cards or other extensions of credil. Furthcl-morc, dcfcndants arc not authorized by 

MasterCard or Visa to issue or rnarkct Mastercard or Visa credit cards to thc public, 01- cven to 

use MasterCard or Visa trademarks in their promotions. 

VIOLATIONS OF 'THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT 

17. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. $ 45(a), prohibits unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in or affecting commerce. Misrep~esentations or omissions of matcl-ial Fact 

constitute deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Scction 5(a) of the FI'C Act. 

COUNT 1 

18. In numerous instances, in connection with the marketing of advance fcc credit 

cards, defendants or their. ernployccs or agents havc reprcsentcd, directly or by implication, that 

after paying defendants a fee, consumers will, or are highly likcly to, I-eceive an unsecured majo~ 

credit card, such as a MastcrCard or Visa crcdit card. 



19. In truth and in fact, in nnmel-ous instances, after- paying delcndants a fcc, 

consumers do not rcceive an ~~nsccurcd major crcdit card, such as a MastcrCard or Visa credit 

card. 

20. Therefol-e, thc representation sct ibrth in Paragraph 18 is falsc and misleading 

and constitutes a deceptive act or practice i n  violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 

S: 45(a). 

'THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE 

21. The Commission promulgated the Telemarketing Salcs Kulc pursuant to Section 

6102(a) of the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. 3 6102(a). The Rule bccamc erlective on December 

31, 1995. 

22. Thc FTC Telcmarketing Sales Rule prohibits telcmarkclcrs and sellcrs fi-om 

misrepresenting any material aspect of the perlormance, efficacy, nature, or central 

characteristics of goods or services that are thc subject of a sales offer. 

IG C.F.R. $ 310,3(a)(2)(iii). 

23. The Telemarketing Salcs Rulc also prohibits tclcmarkctel.s and scllcrs from, 

among other things, requesting 01- receiving paymcnt of any fcc or considcl-ation i n  advance of 

obtaining or an-anging a loan or other cxtcnsion of credit when the sellcr or tclemarkcter has 

guaranteed or rcpresented a high likelihood of succcss in obtaining or xranging a loan or other 

extension of credit. 16 C.F.K. S: 310.4(a)(4). 



24. Pu~.suant to Section 3(c) ol' thc Telemal-kcting Act, 15 U.S.C. $ 6102(c), and 

Section 18(d)(3) of the FI'C Act, 15 U.S.C. $ 57a(d)(3), violations of the Telemarkcting Sales 

Rule constitute unfair or deceptive acts or PI-acticcs in or af'l'ccting commerce, i n  violation of 

Section S(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 3 45(a). 

25. Defendants are "sellcl-s" or "tclemarketers" cngagcd i n  "tclcmat-kcting," as thosc 

terms are dcfincd in thc FTC 'Telemarkcting Sales Rule. 16 C.F.R. $$ 310.2(s), (1) & (LI). 

VIOLATIONS OF 'SHE 'SE1,EMAKKE'IlNG SALES RULE 

COUNT I1 

26. In numerous instances, i n  connection with the tclcmarketing oT advancc t'ce credit 

cards, defendants or their employees or agents have misreprcsentcd, directly or by implication, 

that, after paying defendants a fee, consumel-s will, or are highly likcly to, reccivc an unsecured 

major credit card, such as a MasterCard or Visa credit card. 

27. Dcfendanls have thereby violated Section 310.3(a)(2)(iii) ol' the Tclemarkeling 

Sales Rule, I6 C.F.R. 3 3 10.3(a)(2)(iii). 

COUNT 111 

28. In numcr-ous instances, in connection with the tclcmarkcting of advance ice credit 

cards, defendants or their employees or agents have requcstcd and received payment of  a Tce i n  

advance of consumers obtaining a credit card whcn defendants havc guarankcd or I-cprescnted a 

high likelihood of success in obtaining or arranging for the acquisition of an imsccured credit 

card, such as a MasterCard 01- Visa credit card, for such consumers. 

29. Defendants havc thereby violated Section 3 10.4(a)(4) of thc Telemarketing Sales 

Rule, 16 C.F.R. $ 3 10.4(a)(4). 



CONSUMISK INJURY 

30. Consumers throughout the United States have suffcrcd and continuc lo suffcr 

substantial monetary loss as a rcsult of defcndants' unlawful acts and pl.acticcs. In addition, 

defendants havc becn unjustly cnrichcd as a result of their ~~nlawful acts and pl-acticcs. Ahscnt 

injunctive relief by this Court, thc defendants are likcly to continue to injurc consumers, rcap 

u n j ~ ~ s t  enrichment, and harm the public intemt.  

THIS COUR'T'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

31. Sections 13(b) and I9 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. $5 53(b) and 57b and Scction 

6(b) of the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. 9: 6105(b), crnpower this Court to issue a pel-mancnt 

injunction against defendants' violations of the FK Act and thc Telemarketing Sales Rule, and, 

in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction, to ordcr such ancillary relicf as a preliminary 

injunction, rescission, restitution, disgorgement of profits rcsulting from defcndants' unl;rwI'ul 

acts or practices, and other remedial measures. 

PRAYER FOR REI,IEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff, thc Fedcral Trade Commission, rcqucsts that this Courl, as 

authorized by Sections 13(b) and I9 of the FI'C Act, 15 U.S.C. $$ 53(b) and 57h, Scction 6(b) of 

the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. $ 6105(b), and pursuant to the Court's own cquitable powcl-s: 

I .  Award plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillary rclief as may bc 

necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the pcndency of this action and lo 

preservc the possibility of effective final relief, including, but not limited to, temporary and 

preliminary injunctions, and an order freezing asscts; 



2. Pcrmancntly enjoin dckndants irom violating the FK Act and ihc Tclcmarkcting 

Sales Rulc, as alleged hcrcin; 

3. Award such relief as thc C~LII-1 finds necessary to I-ctlrcss injul-y to consumers 

result~ng from dcfcndants' vlolatlons of the FX Act and thc Tclemarkct~ng Sales Rule, 

including, but not limitcd to, rescission or I-clbrmation of contracts, rcstiiurion, rcf~md of monies 

p a d ,  and dlsgo~gemcnt or ill-gottcn monles; and 

4. Awal-d plaintiff the cosls of bringing this actlon, as well as such other and 

additional rclicf as the Court may determine to be just and pl-oper 

Dated: 41 \ ,2004 

Respectfully Submitted. 

WILLIAM E. KOVACIC 
Gcncral Counsel 

4\ ttorney for ~laiktiff  
Federal Trade Commission 
55 East Monroe Strccl, Suite 1860 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 
(312) 960.5634 (lelcphonc) 
(3 12) 960-5600 (Tacsimilc) 



IN THE UNI'I'EI) STATICS DISTKIC'I' COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

) 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 1 

) 
Plaint~ff, ) 

9094-51 14 QUEBEC, INC., 
et al., 

Defendants 

) 
) Civil Action No. 03C 7486 

) ) e i - h b e r  .----~ 
~-. . - 

agistrate Sidney I .  Schenkicr 

NOTICE OF FILING 
To: Attached Service List 

PLEASE TAKE NO'L'ICE that, on Septcmber 21,2004, Plaintiff Federal Trade 
Commission filed the attached STIPULATED ORDER FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION 
AND FINAL JUDGMENT, STIPULATION TO AMEND COMPLAINT TO NAME 
ACMS, INC., AND TO DISMISS ANNA VRONTAKIS, and AMENDED COMPLAINT 
FOR PERMANENT lNJUNCTlON AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELlEF with the United 
States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, a copies whch are 
attached hereto 

Dated: 

$East Monroc Street, Suite 1860 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 
tel: (312) 960-5615lfax: (312) 960-5600 



CEKI'IFICATE 01; SERVICE 

I, the unders~gned, hercby certify that, on <; t n  2 1 ?-w? I causcd Lo bc servcd a 

true copy of thc Stipulated Order for Pcrmanent Injunction and Final Judgment, Stip~llation to 

Amend Complaint to Name ACMS, Inc., and to Ilismiss Anna Vrontakis, and Amended 

Complaint for Permanent Injunction and Other Equitable Rehef Stipulat~on to Amend Compla~nt 

to Name Acms, Inc., and To Dismiss Anna Vrontakis and the Amended Complaint, copies of 

which are attached hereto, by United States mail, to: 

Sheldon Lustigman 
The Lustigman Firm, P.C. 
149 Madison Avenue, Suite 805 
New York, New York 10016-67 13 

Franco Carone 
236 East North Avenue 
North Lake. IL 60164 

/ ~ t t o s n e ~  fol- Plaintiff 
Federal Trade Commission 


